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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF RHODE ISLAND 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

AARON PHILBERT 

Defendant. 

The Grand Jury charges that: 

In violation of 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1) and 
(b)(1)(C), 18 U.S.C. §§ 922(g)(1) and 
924(a)(2), and§ 924(c)(1)(A). 

INDICTMENT 

COUNT I 

On or about February 8, 2016, in the District of Rhode Island, the defendant, 

AARON PHILBERT, did knowingly and intentionally possess with intent to distribute a 

mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine, a Schedule II 

Controlled Substance, 

All in violation of 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(1) and (b)(1)(C). 

COUNT II 

On or about February 8, 2016, in the District of Rhode Island, the defendant, 

AARON PHILBERT, did knowingly and intentionally possess with intent to distribute 

a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of heroin, a Schedule I 

Controlled Substance, 

All in violation of 21 U.S.C. §§ 8L11(a)(1) and (b)(1)(C). 

COUNT III 

On or about February 8, 2016, in the District of Rhode Island, the defendant, 

AARON PHILBERT, who was previously convicted of a crime punishable by a term of 
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imprisonment exceeding one year, did knowingly and intentionally possess firearms, 

that is, a Glock 21, .45 caliber pistol, serial number YUT268, and a Smith & Wesson .357 

magnum revolver, serial number CPE8861, in and affecting interstate and foreign 

comn1erce, 

All in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 922(g)(1) and 92t!(a)(2). 

COUNT IV 

On or about February 8, 2016, in the Dish·ict of Rhode Island, the defendant, 

AARON PHILBERT, did knowingly possess firearms, that is, a Glock 21, .45 caliber 

pistol, serial number YUT268, and a Smith & Wesson .357 magnum revolver, serial 

number CPE8861, in furtherance of the drug tr·afficking crimes of possession with intent 

to distribute a mixture and substance containing a detectable amount of cocaine and 

heroin as charged in Counts I and II of this Indictment both crimes for which he may be 

prosecuted in a Court of the United States, 

All in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 924(c)(1)(A). 

FORFEITURE ALLEGATION 

Upon conviction of the offenses alleged in Counts I and II, Defendant shall 

forfeit to the United States of America, pursuant to 21 U.S. C.§ 853, property 

constituting or derived from any proceeds obtained, directly or indirectly, as the result 

of that offense and any property used, or intended to be used, in any manner or part, to 

commit that offense or to facilitate the commission of that offense. The property to be 

forfeited includes, but is not limited to, the following: $3,040 in United States currency 

found in the kitchen drawer in the residence of the Defendant located at 3 Saunders 

Street, Apt. #5, Pawtucket, Rhode Island ("the residence"); $220 in United States 
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currency found in a pair of jeans at the residence, and $8,500 in United States currency 

found in a vest at the residence. 

Upon conviction of the offenses alleged in Counts III and IV, Defendant shall 

forfeit to the United States of America, pursuant to 18 U.S. C. § 924( d)(1) and 28 U.S.C. § 

2461(c), the firearms identified in Counts III and IV and the associated ammunition and 

magazines, all of which were seized on or about February 8, 2016, from the residence. 

ADIGOL 
Criminal Chief, 
Assistant U.S. Attorney 
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RJEDACTirD 
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PER 18 U.S.C. 3170 

I DEFENDANT INFORMATION RELATIVE TO A CRIMINAL ACTION -IN U.S. DISTRICT COURT 
m I ... , ., ' 

1'1\ BY: D INFORMATION [g] INDICTMENT D COMPLAIN CASE ~.~:::'>"·:7,-::/::·r ~!J ~~ ~' -~~ 
h~ I ~·"\!.·.t:·.:l•f.··'···,,!l:~:;- t.'·~~·).o· ~U:dJ. ~ ., ~ .~ 

0 Juvenile D Other than Juvenile 
~'-i;:i..(..;N -~;.-._,_t_:·;,•":..t>'li tl! •. "'· 

Matter Sealed: USA vs. 
0 Pre-Indictment Plea 0 Superseding 0 Defendant Added 

Defendant: 
Aaron Philbert 

0 Indictment 0 Charges/Counts Added --
0 Information 

Name of District Court, and/or Judge/Magistrate Location (City) Add res~ 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT RHODE ISLAND llJEDACTED 
DISTRICT OF RHODE ISLAND Divisional Office 

PETER F. NERONHA --Name and Office of Person 
~U.S.Atty Oother U.S. Agency Furnishing Information on D II THIS FORM Phone No. (401) 709-5000 

Name of Asst. 
U.S. Attorney RICHARD W. ROSE 
(if assigned) Birth lien 

Date llicable) 
PROCEEDING 

Name of Complainant Agency, or Person (&Title, if any) 

Drug Enforcement Administration Socia 

D person is awaiting trial in another Federal or State Court 
(give name of court) 

[ZJ Warrant 0 Summons Issue: 

0 this person/proceeding transferred from another district 
per (circle one) FRCrP 20, 21 or 40. Show District 

Location Status: 

Arrest Date or Date Transferred to Federal Custody 

0 this is a reprosecution of charges D Currently in Federal Custody previously dismissed which were 
dismissed on motion of: rzJ Currently in State Custody 
0 U.S. Atty 0 Defense 

SHOW [Z] Writ Required 

D this prosecution relates to a DOCKET NO. D Currently on bond 
pending case involving this same 

t!Jt tf1-- /II! I/ 0 Fugitive defendant. (Notice of Related 
Case must still be filed with the 

0 
Clerk.) 

MAG. JUDGE 
prior proceedings or appearance(s) CASE NO. Defense Counsel (if any): 
before U.S. Magistrate Judge 
regarding this defendant were D FPD D CJA D RET'D 
recorded under 

Place of l RHODE ISLAND 
D Appointed on Target Letter 

County 
offense 

0 This report amends AO 257 previously submitted 

OFFENSE CHARGED- U,S.C. CITATION- STATUTORY MAXIMUM PENALTIES- ADDITIONAL INFORMATION OR COMMENTS 

Total# of Counts 3 ----
Set Title & Section/Offense Level Description of Offense Charged Felony/Misd. 

!Pettv = 1 I Misdemeanor= 3 I Felonv = 4) 

See Attached Sheet. See Attached Sheet. [E]Felony 
0Misdemeanor 
[E]Felony 
0Misdemeanor 

1~;elony Misdemeanor 
0Felony 
IOMisdemeanor 

lr:; it( -~ <.i ;,0:;1§!/"( IB;elony 
Misdemeanor 

/) 
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Count I: 

Count II: 

Count III: 

Count IV 

United States v. Aaron Philbert 
INDICTMENT COVER SHEET ATTACHMENT 

(PWID Cocaine, 21 U.S.C. §§ 84l(a)(1) and (b)(l)(C)) 

MAX PENALTY 

a. 20 years imprisonment; 
b. $1,000,000 ±lne; 
c. Mandatory minimum 3 years to life supervised release; and 
d. $100 special assessment. 

(PWID Heroin, 21 U.S.C. §§ 841(a)(l) and (b)(l)(C)) 

MAX PENALTY 

a. 20 years imprisonment; 
b. $1,000,000 ±lne; 
c. Mandatory minimum 3 years to life supervised release; and 
d. $100 special assessment. 

(Felon in Possession of a Firearm, 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(l )) 

MAX PENALTY FOR EACH COUNT 

a. 1 0 years imprisonment; 
b. $250,000 fine; 
c. 3 years supervised release; and 
d. $100 special assessment. 

(Possession of Firearm in Fmiherance of a Drug Traf±lcking 
Crime, 18 U.S.C. § 924 (c)(l)(A) 

a. 5 years to life (consecutive) imprisonment; and 
b. $100 special assessment. 


